

Child Care Deserts

An Analysis of Child Care Centers by ZIP Code in 8 States

By Rasheed Malik, Katie Hamm, Maryam Adamu, and Taryn Morrissey

October 2016

WWW.AMERICANPROGRESS.ORG



Child Care Deserts

An Analysis of Child Care Centers by ZIP Code in 8 States

By Rasheed Malik, Katie Hamm, Maryam Adamu, and Taryn Morrissey October 2016

Contents

- 1 Introduction and summary
- 4 Background
- 7 Nearly half of ZIP codes are child care deserts
- 10 A look at child care deserts across three dimensions
- 17 Child care centers that are rated as high-quality remain scarce
- **18 Policy recommendations and conclusion**
- **19** Appendix A: State-by-state findings
- 35 Appendix B: Data and methodology
- 42 About the authors
- 44 Endnotes

Introduction and summary

For working parents with young children, the task of finding child care can be daunting. Across the country, parents report frustration when trying to find affordable, high-quality child care. While the cost of child care is certainly a barrier to child care access, less understood are the roles of supply and location. This report examines the location of child care centers across eight states, comprising 20 percent of the U.S. population younger than the age of 5, and uncovers another cause driving the child care crisis: 42 percent of children under 5 years of age live in child care deserts.

The term "child care desert" is not currently part of the American lexicon. However, lack of child care supply is a serious national problem that disproportionately impacts rural areas. The Center for American Progress is introducing a working definition of child care deserts, which borrows its terminology from the frequently studied problem of food deserts—what the government defines as communities in which residents do not live in close proximity to affordable and healthy food retailers.¹ For the purposes of this study, a child care desert is defined as a ZIP code with at least 30 children under the age of 5 and either no child care centers or so few centers that there are more than three times as many children under age 5 as there are spaces in centers. (see Figure 1)

In order to assess how location might affect a family's child care options, this report explores the geographic characteristics of center-based early care and education programs, including child care centers, Head Start, and public and private preschool programs. This study uses state administrative data and ZIP code-level census estimates to analyze differences in the presence and cumula-tive capacity of child care centers across eight states: Colorado, Georgia, Illinois, Maryland, Minnesota, North Carolina, Ohio, and Virginia.² This subset of states results from the fact that while the authors requested data from most states, many agencies did not respond or chose not to share administrative data.³ However, these eight states are generally illustrative of the state of child care across the country. See Appendix B for more detail.



When the working definition of a child care desert is applied to the data gathered from these eight states, the scope of the child care crisis comes into focus: 48 percent of the nearly 7,000 ZIP codes in these states are child care deserts. In some states, a substantial majority of the population lives in child care deserts, with nearly two-thirds of Minnesota ZIP codes and 60 percent of Illinois ZIP codes fitting the definition.⁴ Across the eight states, more than 27 million people live in child care deserts, including 1.8 million children under the age of 5.⁵

The vast majority of American families need high-quality child care and early education programs to support the development of young children, as well as the economic well-being of families. Yet high-quality child care is out of reach for many families, as child care is increasingly consuming more of the family budget. At nearly \$18,000 per year, the average cost of center-based care for an infant and a pre-schooler amounts to 29 percent of the median family income.⁶ Analysis by the U.S. Bureau of the Census shows that the average weekly cost of child care for families with employed mothers is about 30 percent higher than it was 15 years ago.⁷

While the cost of child care is well-documented, affordability is only one factor that contributes to access to high-quality child care. For many parents, especially low-income parents, location is a major consideration in choosing child care and a limiting factor for many families.⁸ Recent economic research has found that children are more likely to attend centers close to home when such centers are available.⁹ Of course, geographic proximity to a child care center does not always mean that families are able to enroll. Factors such as cost, child care subsidies, work schedules, waiting lists, and many others impact access to child care. However, location is an important consideration for many families, and more information about families' proximity to child care programs can inform efforts to increase access to high-quality early childhood programs.

The results of this study show that a majority of rural ZIP codes are child care deserts, meaning that 55 percent of children under the age of 5 in rural areas live in child care deserts. In terms of total population, there are many more children under age 5 living in suburban child care deserts: Nearly 1 million young children in suburban areas across the eight states live in child care deserts. By and large, about one-third of urban neighborhoods are child care deserts, with one major exception. This study finds that in Chicago, 5 out of 6 children under the age of 5 live in child care deserts—more than 150,000 children—which is nearly half of the urban child care desert population across all eight states.¹⁰

Child care deserts differ from areas with greater child care supply in several interesting ways. While child care deserts have roughly the same rates of poverty as nondeserts, the labor force participation rate for mothers with children under the age of 6 is about 1.1 percentage points lower in child care deserts. Child care desert communities tend to have higher proportions of Hispanic residents and lower proportions of African American residents. As one might expect, child care deserts average only 1.5 child care centers, whereas other ZIP codes comprise an average of 4.9 centers.¹¹

This study also examines the presence of center-based programs rated by a state's quality rating and improvement system, or QRIS. While many systems are still under development, the data show that fewer than half of all centers participated in their state's QRIS, and only about 16 percent of all centers across the eight states were in the top tiers of quality.¹²

Together, these findings show the child care marketplace in a state of crisis. In many parts of this country, working families face a deep shortage of child care options, which are often of inconsistent quality and at a financial cost that is out of reach. The Center for American Progress has proposed a High-Quality Child Care Tax Credit that would make high-quality care much more affordable for low-income and middle-class families. However, the ubiquity of these child care deserts means that it is crucial that the nation also invests substantially greater public resources in child care infrastructure and supply.

Background

Over the past few decades, the dramatic increase in maternal labor force participation and dual-earner families has radically changed where and with whom young children spend much of their time. In 1970, 30 percent of mothers with a child under age 6 were employed; this number had grown to 64 percent by 2015.¹³ At the same time, the use of nonparental child care has become the norm. In 2011, more than 60 percent of children under age 5 regularly attended one or more nonparental child care arrangements. One-quarter of children under the age of 5 with employed mothers regularly attended center-based early childhood programs—including child care centers, preschools, and Head Start—while other children were cared for in their homes or caregivers' homes by relatives, by neighbors, or in family child care.¹⁴

The first years of life are a critical period for child development. As research across neuroscience, developmental psychology, and economics demonstrates, early social-emotional, physical, and cognitive skills beget later skill acquisition, setting the groundwork for success in school and the workplace.¹⁵ However, an analysis of nationally representative data shows that 65 percent of child care centers do not serve children age 1 or younger and that 44 percent do not serve children under age 3 at all.¹⁶ Consequently, child care centers only have the capacity to serve 10 percent of all children under age 1 and 25 percent of all children under age 3.¹⁷ High-quality child care during this critical period can support children's physical, cognitive, and social-emotional development.¹⁸ Attending a high-quality early childhood program such as preschool or Head Start is particularly important for children in poverty or from other disadvantaged backgrounds and can help reduce the large income-based disparities in achievement and development.¹⁹

In 2014, 65 percent of children under age 6 in the United States lived in families in which all parents were in the labor force, requiring high-quality, accessible, and affordable child care to support both these children's development and their parents' employment.²⁰ Child care, however—particularly high-quality center care—is expensive and hard to find. In 2014, the average cost of full-time infant care ranged from \$4,822 to \$17,062 per year—between 7 percent and 15 percent of median income for a married-couple household and between 24 percent and 63 percent of median income for a single-mother household.²¹ The cost of center-based child care for 4-year-olds is also sizeable—between \$3,972 and \$10,030 per year.²²

In recent years, researchers have examined the variety of factors that influence how families make child care choices. While some aspects of child care decisions can be attributed to characteristics of the parent or child, studies have found that families often face multiple constraints such as location, work schedules, and a lack of information.²³ Low-wage workers in particular regularly cope with shifting schedules and nontraditional hours.²⁴ This points to one of the obvious challenges for low-income families: the scarcity of child care centers with nontraditional hours.

All families need developmentally supportive child care in the communities in which they live and work. But according to a recent study from the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, higher-income areas are geographically associated with a higher availability of center-based child care, especially in the case of infant and toddler care.²⁵ For struggling communities, a local shortage of quality center-based care can aggravate the difficulties that low-income working families already endure.

Recent technological advancements have resulted in the development of innovative location-based techniques for economic analysis. Using precise geo-referenced data, new research has shown a significant relationship between distance from child care and attendance.²⁶ Employing similar methods, economists have discovered that proximity to child care options contributes to women's participation in the workforce.²⁷ But geographic availability, on its own, does not equal access. A number of issues play a role in determining access to child care, including cost, work schedules, cultural or linguistic factors, and availability of slots. While this report is primarily concerned with the geographic availability of child care centers, the broader question of access requires nuanced further study.

Even if parents do have access to child care, high-quality programs are out of reach for many families. The most recent available data show that only 13 percent of 2-year-olds attending child care were in settings rated as high quality.²⁸ Prior research has found that high-poverty communities and rural areas lack access to center care and that children from low-income families are less likely to attend high-quality child care.²⁹ Low-income children are also less likely to attend child care centers, as compared with other types of nonparental care.³⁰ While there is

considerable variability in quality within each type of care, centers tend to average higher quality ratings, and center care attendance is associated with improved cognitive and language outcomes when compared with exclusive parental or homebased care.³¹ While home-based child care is a critical part of the early childhood landscape, families need a range of child care options, and since child care centers tend to offer higher-quality care, they are a major part of the supply equation and should be available to families that want or need this type of care.

Methodology

For this report, the authors collected data on the locations and capacities of all licensed child care centers in eight states. This subset of states results from the fact that while data was requested from most states, many agencies did not respond or chose not to share administrative data.³² The eight states that provided complete data are generally illustrative of the state of child care across the country. They include large rural and urban populations, and they exhibit geographic and demographic diversity. These relatively populous states contain one-fifth of the U.S. population under the age of 5.³³

The administrative data on child care center locations included a ZIP code for each center. Using U.S. Census Bureau data, the authors were able to match the child care center locations with census estimates of each ZIP code's demographic, geographic, and economic characteristics. This merged data set was used to compare and analyze the prevalence of child care deserts among ZIP codes of differing types: rural, suburban, and urban; low, moderate, and high poverty; and those of varying racial and ethnic demographic profiles. For more information on the authors' methodology, see Appendix B.

Nearly half of ZIP codes are child care deserts

This study examined the presence, capacity, and quality ratings of child care centers across eight states: Colorado, Georgia, Illinois, Maryland, Minnesota, North Carolina, Ohio, and Virginia. Forty-eight percent of the ZIP codes across the eight states are child care deserts. As shown in Figure 2, the proportion of ZIP codes that qualify as child care deserts varies by state, from 32 percent in Georgia to 65 percent in Minnesota.³⁴



In total, there were 22,928 child care centers in the eight states' administrative databases.³⁵ However, these states have more than 4.3 million children under the age of 5, meaning that there is a deep undersupply of child care centers, particularly those in the top tiers of quality.³⁶ Only 16 percent of the child care centers in these eight states were in the top tier of quality, with a majority of those centers

.....

located in North Carolina. Outside of North Carolina—one of the earliest states to develop and implement a quality rating and improvement system—only 8 percent of centers were in the top tiers of their state's quality rating system.³⁷

In just these eight states, more than 27 million people live in child care deserts. Table 1 reports estimates of the total population and the population under age 5 in each state's child care deserts. Remarkably, nearly half of all the young children living in child care deserts are located in just two states: Illinois and Minnesota.³⁸ However, even in the states that have the fewest child care deserts, about 1 in 4 residents lives in an undersupplied child care market. Findings for each state are presented in detail in Appendix A.

TABLE 1

How many people live in these child care deserts?

State	Child care desert population	Share of population	Child care desert population under age 5	Share of population
Colorado	2,366,255	45.5%	175,900	52.1%
Georgia	1,464,484	14.8%	104,826	15.6%
Illinois	8,699,830	67.6%	581,553	71.7%
Maryland	2,075,373	35.2%	145,567	39.7%
Minnesota	3,880,457	72.1%	262,059	74.9%
North Carolina	2,384,333	24.5%	160,988	26.0%
Ohio	3,124,374	27.0%	200,663	28.7%
Virginia	3,289,982	40.2%	217,389	42.5%
Total	27,285,088	39.7%	1,848,945	42.4%

Child care deserts population, by state

Sources: Authors' calculations based on state administrative data; ZIP code tabulation area data from the Bureau of the Census, "American Community Survey, 2014 ACS 5-year estimates." See Appendix B for full data sources.

What is in a ZIP code?

ZIP codes vary enormously by population, land area, density, demographics, and poverty. Since ZIP codes are a somewhat unfamiliar geographic unit, Table 2 presents summary statistics for the typical ZIP code from these eight states. Among the states in this study, the median population of a ZIP code is about 3,250 residents, with 175 being under the age of 5. The median size of these ZIP codes is 35 square miles, which is about 1 1/2 times the size of Manhattan. However, some urban ZIP codes consist of only a few city blocks, and certain rural ZIP codes in Colorado cover more than 1,000 square miles, which is roughly the size of Rhode Island. In total, about 65 percent of all ZIP codes are rural, with 29 percent being suburban and 6 percent being urban.

TABLE 2 What does a typical ZIP code look like?

From among the eight states studied

	Median	Minimum	25th percentile	75th percentile	Maximum
Population	3,255	4	967	14,198	115,013
Population under age 5	175	0	45	839	9,129
Population density	100.6 per mi ²	0.03	30.3	732.2	71,967.5
Number of households	1,262	2	379	5,405	36,845
Household density	36.7 per mi ²	0.03	11.7	256.3	24,175.4
Land area	34.8 mi ²	0.007	10	74.8	2378.7
	Weighted average	Minimum	25th percentile	75th percentile	Maximum
Poverty rate	14.1%	0%	7.1%	18.8%	100%
Non-Hispanic white	66.3%	0%	50.8%	86.4%	100%
Non-Hispanic black	17.5%	0%	2.3%	24.1%	100%
Hispanic	9.9%	0%	2.7%	11.6%	100%
Asian or Pacific Islander	3.8%	0%	0.6%	4.7%	47.0%
Two or more races	2.0%	0%	1.2%	2.7%	39.1%
Native American	0.4%	0%	0.0%	0.3%	87.1%

Note: Data on populated ZIP codes only. Proportional statistics are weighted averages and are weighted by total population. Sources: Author's calculations based on the Bureau of the Census, "American Community Survey, 2014 ACS 5-year estimates"; Bureau of the Census, 2010 Census Demographic Profile Data.

A look at child care deserts across three dimensions

This report analyzes differences in the prevalence of child care deserts across three dimensions: geographic, economic, and demographic. The geographic analysis is based on ZIP codes that are assigned as rural, suburban, or urban. The economic analysis uses census-estimated ZIP code poverty rates to categorize each community as displaying low, moderate, or high poverty. The demographic analysis uses racial and ethnic demographics at the ZIP code level to determine disparate proximity to child care centers based on race and ethnicity. These divisions serve to demonstrate the local characteristics that are often correlated with insufficient child care capacity.

Geographic analysis: Deserts by rural, suburban, and urban ZIP codes

Rural ZIP codes

The most severe shortage of child care centers is in America's rural communities. Rural areas are more likely to be child care deserts than not, with 54 percent of rural ZIP codes qualifying under the definition. About two-thirds of rural child care deserts have no child care centers at all, despite that fact that the median rural ZIP code is home to about 100 young children. In fact, rural child care deserts average about the same number of children under the age of 5 as nondeserts. Thus, population size does not appear to explain the lack of centers in rural child care deserts. The proportion of rural ZIP codes that qualify as child care deserts varies by state, with Illinois, Ohio, and Minnesota having the highest rate of rural deserts, as seen in Figure 3.



About 3 out of 4 child care deserts are rural, but there are many more rural ZIP codes overall than suburban and urban ZIP codes. The median rural ZIP code is home to about 2,000 people—about 100 of them children under the age of 5—with zero child care centers. By contrast, the median number of centers in a suburban ZIP code is five, while the median number in an urban ZIP code is eight. Table 3 reports summary statistics for the median rural, suburban, and urban ZIP code.

TABLE 3 ZIP code summary statistics, by urbanicity

From among the eight states studied

	Rural <i>N=4,468</i>	Suburban N=1,998	Urban N=429
Share of zip codes that are child care deserts	54.1%	35.2%	36.6%
Population	1,857	18,594	22,479
Population under age 5	97	1,085	1,453
Number of child care centers	0	5	8
Population density	42 per mi ²	1,087 per mi ²	5,119 per mi²
Number of households	712	7,062	9,412
Land area	52.6 mi ²	11.7 mi ²	4.5 mi ²
Poverty rate	14.5%	11.8%	21.6%
Non-Hispanic white	81.4%	65.1%	47.5%
Non-Hispanic black	10.5%	17.4%	28.5%
Hispanic	5.1%	10.0%	16.7%
Asian or Pacific Islander	0.7%	4.9%	4.5%
Two or more races	1.4%	2.2%	2.3%
Native American	0.8%	0.3%	0.3%

Note: Data on populated ZIP codes only. Values shown are medians except for proportional variables, which are means weighted by total population.

Sources: Author's calculations based on state administrative data; Bureau of the Census, "American Community Survey, 2014 ACS 5-year estimates"; Bureau of the Census, 2010 Census Demographic Profile Data.

Suburban ZIP codes

The majority of Americans live in suburban ZIP codes. While rural areas are more likely to meet the definition of child care deserts, the majority of the young children in this study are found in suburban ZIP codes. The authors designate ZIP codes as suburban based on the density of housing, meaning that some lowdensity areas of large cities are viewed as suburban. Although only 36 percent of suburban children under the age of 5 live in child care deserts, that totals nearly 1 million suburban children. Figure 4 shows both the share of children under age 5 in deserts, as well as the total number of children in each type of ZIP code. For more information on the methodology used to assign ZIP codes as suburban, urban, or rural, see Appendix B.



Urban ZIP codes

Densely populated urban communities are less likely to face child care shortages, but urban child care deserts remain a serious problem. There are only 157 urban ZIP codes that qualify as child care deserts under the working definition, but these ZIP codes are home to nearly 5 million residents, including about 375,000 children under the age of 5. By far, Chicago has the most severe urban child care desert problem, with 84 percent of young children living in a child care desert totaling more than 150,000 children under the age of 5. The cities of Chicago, Denver, and Minneapolis-St. Paul are home to nearly 90 percent of the urban child care desert population across the eight states.

Urban child care deserts have, on average, about 1,000 more children under 5 years of age than urban nondeserts. This means that urban neighborhoods with the highest child populations have an ongoing undersupply of child care center spaces. These areas also tend to have much higher proportions of Hispanic families than urban nondeserts, which is examined in more depth in the demographic analysis section.

Economic analysis: Deserts by local poverty rate

The local poverty rate turns out to be a poor predictor of child care deserts. Most child care deserts are in areas with low or moderate poverty rates, using the official poverty threshold from the U.S. Census Bureau. In this analysis, a ZIP code's poverty rate determined whether it was categorized as low, moderate, high, or extreme

Urban child care deserts have, on average, about 1,000 more children under age 5 than urban nondeserts. poverty, as seen in Figure 6. Notably, areas with moderate poverty—defined as areas in which 10 percent to 20 percent of residents are in poverty—showed the highest likelihood of being a child care desert. Averaged together, these eight states reflect the national poverty rate, which has hovered just below 15 percent. The child poverty rate is consistently higher, most recently reported to be 21 percent.³⁹



Somewhat surprisingly, ZIP codes with the highest poverty rates were much less likely to be child care deserts. Furthermore, among those deserts with extreme poverty, more than half were in rural ZIP codes. This reduced incidence of child care deserts in areas of concentrated poverty is likely the result of targeted public early care and education programs such as state public preschool, Head Start, and Early Head Start. Without a continued public commitment to providing educational support for families and children in urban poverty, these communities would likely not be served by the private child care market. Conversely, some rural communities experiencing high rates of poverty seem to be underserved by public programs. While Head Start provides grants to child care providers in all areas, rural municipalities may often lack the resources to fund public preschool or infant and toddler care.

Demographic analysis: Deserts by racial and ethnic population

By analyzing the racial and ethnic demographics of each ZIP code, this report seeks to identify which subpopulations are affected more than others. The demographic profiles of child care deserts indicate that child care deserts tend to have much higher representation of Hispanic populations. Meanwhile, they also tend to have significantly lower representation of non-Hispanic black residents—13.5 percent in child care deserts and 20.2 percent in nondeserts.

These differences are even more apparent when broken down by urbanicity and poverty, as shown in Table 4. Among just the urban ZIP codes in these states, child care deserts have three times the percentage of Hispanic residents as nondesert areas. In these same urban areas, the percentage of non-Hispanic white and black residents is much lower in child care deserts. The same trend is evident in child care deserts with poverty rates above 20 percent. Regardless of urbanicity, high-poverty child care deserts seem to be much more prevalent in Hispanic communities than non-Hispanic white or black communities.

TABLE 4 Urban and high poverty child care deserts have more Hispanic residents

Urban ZIP codes	Not a child care desert	Child care deserts	Share difference
Share of white residents	52.1%	41.9%	-9.8 pp
Share of black residents	32.1%	24.1%	-8.0 pp
Share of Hispanic residents	8.5%	26.7%	+18.2 pp
High poverty ZIP codes	Not a child care desert	Child care deserts	Share difference
Share of white residents	47.3%	45.2%	-2.1 pp
Share of black residents	37.9%	26.8%	-11.1 pp
Share of Hispanic residents	9.2%	22.2%	+13.0 pp

Demographic differences in urban and high poverty ZIP codes

Sources: Author's calculations based on state administrative data; Bureau of the Census, "American Community Survey, 2014 ACS 5-year estimates."

Even when controlling for differences in urbanicity, poverty rate, population density, and state, an increase in the percentage of Hispanic residents is associated with a large and significant increase in the likelihood that a ZIP code will be a child care desert. In keeping with these findings, Figure 6 shows that more than half of the Hispanic population across these eight states lives in child care deserts.

There are numerous ways to interpret these findings, and more detailed research will be necessary to inform the child care choices that Hispanic families make. In recent years, some researchers have observed that Hispanic families demonstrate a preference for informal or relative care over center-based child care.⁴⁰ However, the results of this analysis call into question the directionality of this association. In other words, it could be possible that Hispanic communities tend to have fewer child care centers in their neighborhoods, and thus the choice architecture is structured to favor home-based care. The precise relationship between race and child care availability may be impossible to model, but this research calls into question whether long-held assumptions of cultural preference have inadvertently reduced the supply of child care centers in predominantly Hispanic communities.



Child care centers that are rated as high quality remain scarce

State administrative data also contained quality ratings for centers that participated in their quality rating and improvement systems. Some of the states have revised or expanded their QRIS systems since the time that this data was recorded, meaning that the analysis of these ratings is reflective of the quality ratings environment in 2014–2015. The authors designated which ZIP codes contained any centers rated in the top tiers of the QRIS, finding that 61 percent of ZIP codes with at least one center did not have a center rated as high-quality. Even after controlling for the fact that some nondeserts do not contain any centers, child care deserts are still significantly more likely to lack high-quality-rated child care centers: 66 percent of child care deserts with at least one center did not have a center rated as high-quality.

Only 44 percent of the nearly 23,000 child care centers in these states participated in their state QRIS, despite the fact that two states, Colorado and North Carolina, required all licensed centers to be rated. For the other six states in this study, only 13 percent of centers participated in their state's quality rating system. Outside of North Carolina, only 8 percent received a high-quality rating. Since North Carolina's QRIS has been in place for nearly 20 years, this disparity in quality ratings may reflect the fact that many other states were and are still cultivating QRIS participation.

Finally, this study analyzed the relationship between individual centers' QRIS scores and the urbanicity and poverty rates of those centers' ZIP codes. The analysis found that urban areas and areas with higher poverty tended to have higher QRIS ratings, even after controlling for poverty, state rating system, urbanicity, and child care desert status.

Policy recommendations and conclusion

As this report shows, most areas lack high-quality child care options, and many areas do not have enough child care center spaces. The presence of these child care deserts shows that beyond the cost issue, the United States faces a mounting crisis of child care availability. This lack of supply and proximity cannot be corrected without an infrastructure investment in communities that have been revealed to be child care deserts. Just as policymakers recognize the need for long-overdue infrastructure investment in our roads, bridges, and public buildings, they must allocate public resources toward improving the infrastructure necessary for highquality child care and early childhood education. The next administration, working with Congress, should make a major infrastructure investment in child care to address this critical need for American workers.

In addition, the United States needs comprehensive child care reform to build the supply of high-quality options and make child care more affordable for families. The Center for American Progress has proposed a High-Quality Child Care Tax Credit to help low-income and middle-class families afford quality child care. For parents earning the median family income, center-based child care for two children can rival housing costs or even exceed the cost of college tuition in some states.⁴¹ The proposed tax credit would be targeted to high-quality providers, driving the child care market to improve and creating a choice among quality child care providers.⁴²

The tax credit would provide up to \$14,000 per child per year, paid directly to providers on a monthly basis, which would help low- and middle-income families meet the expense of high-quality child care. Depending on the average child care costs in the state where a family lives, a family earning \$40,000 per year would see an annual savings of approximately \$2,000 to \$19,000 per year.⁴³ This proposal would also keep in place the approximately \$5 billion in federal child care funds that go to states in order to help them build the supply of high-quality child care and erase child care deserts, among other aims.

Appendix A: State-by-state findings

Colorado

Colorado has a lower proportion of child care deserts than many of the states in this study, but these child care deserts are heavily populated: Only 38 percent of Colorado ZIP codes are classified as child care deserts, but they contain 46 percent of the state's residents. About half of the Coloradans living in child care deserts are in the greater Denver area.⁴⁴ Colorado child care deserts have a significantly higher proportion of residents who are people of color: While ZIP codes that have sufficient child care supply are 76 percent white, child care deserts are only 61 percent white. Three in five Hispanic Coloradans live in a child care desert, which makes them 50 percent more likely to live in a child care desert than non-Hispanic white Coloradans.



TABLE 5 A typical Colorado ZIP code

	Median		Weighted average
Population	2,732	Poverty rate	12.9%
Population under age 5	131	Non-Hispanic white	69.4%
Population density	24.8 per mi ²	Non-Hispanic black	3.8%
Number of households	972	Hispanic	20.9%
Household density	8.8 per mi ²	Asian or Pacific Islander	2.3%
Land area	100.7 mi ²	Two or more races	2.8%
		Native American	0.5%

Note: Data on populated ZIP codes only. Proportional statistics are reported as weighted averages and are weighted by total population. Sources: Authors' calculations based on the Bureau of the Census, "American Community Survey, 2014 ACS 5-year estimates"; Bureau of the Census, 2010 Census Demographic Profile Data.

Colorado child care desert facts:

- 2,366,255 Coloradans live in child care deserts, which is 46 percent of the population.
- About half of the Denver-Aurora-Lakewood metropolitan ZIP codes are child care deserts, which are home to more than 1.1 million people.⁴⁵
- There are 175,900 children under the age of 5 in Colorado child care deserts, more than half of whom live in the Denver metro area.
- Colorado has the highest proportion of Hispanic residents of all eight states in the study.
- Only 40 percent of white Coloradans live in child care deserts, while more than 60 percent of black and Hispanic Coloradans live in child care deserts.
- In terms of land area, Colorado has the largest ZIP codes in the study.
- On average, there are 3.9 child care centers per ZIP code in Colorado. The median ZIP code has one child care center.
- About 60 percent of Coloradans live in suburban ZIP codes, nearly half of which are child care deserts.
- Only 36 percent of rural ZIP codes are child care deserts, a smaller proportion than in all but one other state in the study.
- Fewer than 1 in 5 Colorado child care centers received a high-quality rating under Colorado's quality rating and improvement system.
- In 2015, full-time infant care at a Colorado child care center averaged \$14,950 per year—16 percent of the state median income for a married couple with children.⁴⁶
- In 2015, preschool for a 4-year-old in Colorado averaged \$11,089 per year—12 percent of the state median income for a married couple with children.⁴⁷

Georgia

About one-third of Georgia ZIP codes are child care deserts, which is the lowest rate of all eight states studied. Since Georgia child care deserts are more likely to be in rural areas, the state has the lowest proportion of its residents living in child care deserts—fewer than 15 percent. Nonetheless, more than 800,000 Georgians reside in rural child care deserts, and nearly half of them are in areas where the poverty rate is higher than 20 percent.⁴⁸ The federal government funds nearly 25,000 Head Start slots in Georgia, but with the state's high poverty rate and a population of 650,000 children under age 5, demand greatly exceeds supply.



TABLE 6 A typical Georgia ZIP code

	Median		Weighted average
Population	6,507	Poverty rate	17.7%
Population under age 5	380	Non-Hispanic white	55.0%
Population density	102.5 per mi ²	Non-Hispanic black	30.4%
Number of households	2,307	Hispanic	9.0%
Household density	32.9 per mi ²	Asian or Pacific Islander	3.5%
Land area	55.0 mi²	Two or more races	1.6%
		Native American	0.2%

Note: Data on populated ZIP codes only. Proportional statistics are reported as weighted averages and are weighted by total population. Sources: Authors' calculations based on the Bureau of the Census, "American Community Survey, 2014 ACS 5-year estimates"; Bureau of the Census, 2010 Census Demographic Profile Data.

Georgia child care desert facts

- 1,464,484 Georgians live in child care deserts, which is 15 percent of the population.*
- There are 104,826 children under the age of 5 in Georgia child care deserts, half of whom live in rural ZIP codes.
- 41 percent of the rural ZIP codes in Georgia are child care deserts. Only 13 percent of nonrural ZIP codes are child care deserts.
- About one-quarter of the young children in Georgia's child care deserts live in high-poverty rural areas.⁴⁹
- Georgia has the highest proportion of non-Hispanic black residents of all eight states in the study.
- Only 12 percent of non-Hispanic black Georgians live in child care deserts, while more than 16 percent of both white and Hispanic Georgians live in child care deserts.
- Georgia had 24,656 federally funded Head Start slots in 2014.
- On average, there are 5.5 child care centers per ZIP code in Georgia—the highest rate in the study. The median Georgia ZIP code has two child care centers.
- About 63 percent of Georgians live in suburban ZIP codes.
- Fewer than 8 percent of Georgia child care centers participated in the state's QRIS.
- Only 2 percent of Georgia child care centers received a high-quality rating under Georgia's QRIS.
- In 2015, full-time infant care at a Georgia child care center averaged \$10,557 per year—13 percent of the state median income for a married couple with children.⁵⁰
- In 2015, preschool for a 4-year-old in Georgia averaged \$8,625 per year—11 percent of the state median income for a married couple with children.⁵¹

Illinois

In Illinois, more than 8 million people live in child care deserts. Whether in rural, suburban, or urban parts of the state, a majority of its ZIP codes are child care deserts. Chicago is the largest urban child care desert in all eight states, where 5 out of 6 children under the age of 5 live in a child care desert. Overall, 80 percent of Chicagoans live in a child care desert. Hispanic families are significantly more likely to live in an Illinois child care desert than non-Hispanic white or black families: More than 86 percent of Hispanic residents of Illinois live in child care deserts.



TABLE 7 A typical Illinois ZIP code

	Median		Weighted average
Population	1,932	Poverty rate	13.8%
Population under age 5	112	Non-Hispanic white	62.9%
Population density	63.1 per mi ²	Non-Hispanic black	14.2%
Number of households	768	Hispanic	16.3%
Household density	23.9 per mi ²	Asian or Pacific Islander	4.8%
Land area	32.1 mi ²	Two or more races	1.6%
		Native American	0.1%

Note: Data on populated ZIP codes only. Proportional statistics are reported as weighted averages and are weighted by total population. Sources: Authors' calculations based on the Bureau of the Census, "American Community Survey, 2014 ACS 5-year estimates"; Bureau of the Census, 2010 Census Demographic Profile Data.

Illinois child care desert facts

- 8,699,830 Illinoisans reside in child care deserts, which is 68 percent of the population.
- Approximately 80 percent of Chicagoans live in a child care desert, which amounts to more than 2.1 million people.
- There are 581,553 children under the age of 5 in Illinois child care deserts.
- About one-quarter of those kids—more than 150,000 children—live in the city of Chicago.
- Illinois has the second-highest proportion of Hispanic residents of the eight states in the study.
- About 60 percent of non-Hispanic white and black Illinoisans live in child care deserts, while more than 85 percent of Hispanic Illinoisans live in child care deserts.
- About 1.8 million Hispanic Illinoisans live in child care deserts, which is approximately half of the entire Hispanic child care desert population across the eight states.
- Illinois had 42,170 federally funded Head Start slots in 2014, the most of the eight states studied. About 20,000 of those slots were in Chicago.
- On average, there are two child care centers per ZIP code in Illinois. The median ZIP code has zero child care centers.
- About 54 percent of Illinoisans live in suburban ZIP codes, more than half of which are child care deserts.
- 62 percent of urban ZIP codes in Illinois are child care deserts—the highest proportion of urban deserts in the study.
- Fewer than 1 in 6 Illinois child care centers received a high-quality rating under Illinois' QRIS.
- In 2015, full-time infant care at an Illinois child care center averaged \$14,829 per year—16 percent of the state median income for a married couple with children.⁵²
- In 2015, preschool for a 4-year-old in Illinois averaged \$11,112 per year—12 percent of the state median income for a married couple with children.⁵³

Maryland

Maryland has the second-lowest rate of child care deserts in the study, although that still means that one-third of Maryland ZIP codes are child care deserts. Maryland is the most densely populated state in the study, and most Marylanders live in somewhat densely populated suburbs. Among Maryland's urban ZIP codes, more than half of the population lives in a child care desert. As shown in Figure 10, there is a clear racial disparity in the proportion of Marylanders living in child care deserts. Non-Hispanic white residents are much less likely to live in a child care desert than black or Hispanic residents. Maryland also has the highest average cost of infant child care and preschool among the eight states in the study.

FIGURE 10 White Marylanders are the least likely to live in child care deserts

Share of Maryland population living in child care deserts, by race and ethnicity



TABLE 8 A typical Maryland ZIP code

	Median		Weighted average
Population	5,049	Poverty rate	9.6%
Population under age 5	252	Non-Hispanic white	53.6%
Population density	398.6 per mi ²	Non-Hispanic black	29.0%
Number of households	1,769	Hispanic	8.8%
Household density	129.7 per mi ²	Asian or Pacific Islander	5.8%
Land area	11.5 mi ²	Two or more races	2.4%
		Native American	0.2%

Note: Data on populated ZIP codes only. Proportional statistics are reported as weighted averages and are weighted by total population. Sources: Authors' calculations based on the Bureau of the Census, "American Community Survey, 2014 ACS 5-year estimates"; Bureau of the Census, 2010 Census Demographic Profile Data.

Maryland child care desert facts

- 2,075,373 Marylanders reside in child care deserts, which is 35 percent of the population.
- About half of Maryland's urban ZIP codes are child care deserts—home to more than 500,000 people, including 225,000 residents of Baltimore.
- There are 145,567 children under the age of 5 in Maryland child care deserts.
- Maryland has the lowest poverty rate of all eight states in the study.
- Maryland has the second-highest proportion of non-Hispanic black residents of all eight states in the study.
- Only 31 percent of non-Hispanic white Marylanders live in child care deserts, while more than 40 percent of black Marylanders and 51 percent of Hispanic Marylanders live in child care deserts.
- Maryland is the most densely populated state in the study.
- Maryland only had 10,102 federally funded Head Start slots in 2014, the fewest of the eight states studied.
- On average, there are 4.8 child care centers per ZIP code in Maryland. The median ZIP code has two child care centers.
- About 71 percent of Marylanders live in suburban ZIP codes, making Maryland the most suburban state in the study.
- Only 33 percent of rural ZIP codes are child care deserts, the second lowest proportion across all eight states.
- Less than 4 percent of Maryland child care centers received a high-quality rating under Maryland's QRIS.
- In 2015, full-time infant care at a Maryland child care center averaged \$18,597 per year—16 percent of the state median income for a married couple with children.⁵⁴
- In 2015, preschool for a 4-year-old in Maryland averaged \$12,608 per year—11 percent of the state median income for a married couple with children.⁵⁵

Minnesota

Minnesota has the highest rate of child care deserts and the highest proportion of its population living in child care deserts. As of July 2016, there are only 1,253 child care centers in Minnesota, with the capacity to serve 81,306 children. With about 350,000 children under the age of 5 in Minnesota, that means that there are more than four children for every child care center slot. Additionally, the Twin Cities metro region is one of the largest urban child care deserts in the study. About two-thirds of the Minneapolis-St. Paul population live in a child care desert, which amounts to 1.2 million people. Finally, Minnesota is the most rural state in this study, and in Minnesota's rural areas, child care supply is even lower: 84 percent of rural Minnesotans live in a child care desert.



TABLE 9 A typical Minnesota ZIP code

	Median		Weighted average
Population	1,778	Poverty rate	11.2%
Population under age 5	106	Non-Hispanic white	82.1%
Population density	26.0 per mi ²	Non-Hispanic black	5.3%
Number of households	710	Hispanic	4.9%
Household density	10.2 per mi ²	Asian or Pacific Islander	4.3%
Land area	63.2mi ²	Two or more races	2.3%
		Native American	1.0%

Note: Data on populated ZIP codes only. Proportional statistics are reported as weighted averages and are weighted by total population. Sources: Authors' calculations based on the Bureau of the Census, "American Community Survey, 2014 ACS 5-year estimates"; Bureau of the Census, 2010 Census Demographic Profile Data.

Minnesota child care desert facts

- 3,880,457 Minnesotans live in child care deserts, which is 72 percent of the population.
- About two-thirds of Minneapolis-St. Paul ZIP Codes are child care deserts containing more than 1.2 million people.⁵⁶
- In Minneapolis-St. Paul, more than 70 percent of children under age 5 reside in a child care desert.
- There are 262,059 children under the age of 5 in Minnesota's child care deserts, which is 75 percent of the population under 5 years old.
- Minnesota is the most rural state in the study, and 84 percent of rural Minnesotans live in child care deserts.
- Minnesota has the highest proportion of non-Hispanic white residents of all eight states in the study.
- When broken down by race and ethnicity, there is almost no difference in the proportions of white, black, and Hispanic populations living in child care deserts.
- In terms of land area, Minnesota has the second-largest ZIP codes in the study after Colorado.
- Minnesota only had 12,486 federally funded Head Start slots in 2014, third fewest of the eight states.
- On average, there are only 1.4 child care centers per ZIP code in Minnesota, the fewest in the study. The median ZIP code has zero child care centers.
- About 1 in 8 Minnesota child care centers received a high-quality rating under Minnesota's QRIS.
- In 2015, full-time infant care at a Minnesota child care center averaged \$17,442 per year—17 percent of the state median income for a married couple with children.⁵⁷
- In 2015, preschool for a 4-year-old in Minnesota averaged \$13,174 per year— 13 percent of the state median income for a married couple with children.⁵⁸

North Carolina

North Carolina has the most child care centers per ZIP code of all eight states. Nonetheless, more than one-quarter of North Carolinians under the age of 5 live in child care deserts. Like the other states in this study, the supply of child care center slots is substantially lower in rural areas. The state was one of the first to implement a QRIS, and all licensed child care centers are currently required to participate in the QRIS. Relative to the state median income, the average North Carolina child care center is less expensive than the other states in this study.



TABLE 10 A typical North Carolina ZIP code

	Median		Weighted average
Population	6,089	Poverty rate	17.0%
Population under age 5	327	Non-Hispanic white	64.6%
Population density	136.2 per mi ²	Non-Hispanic black	21.2%
Number of households	2,322	Hispanic	8.7%
Household density	51.5 per mi ²	Asian or Pacific Islander	2.4%
Land area	44.0 mi ²	Two or more races	1.9%
		Native American	1.1%

Note: Data on populated ZIP codes only. Proportional statistics are reported as weighted averages and are weighted by total population. Sources: Authors' calculations based on the Bureau of the Census, "American Community Survey, 2014 ACS 5-year estimates"; Bureau of the Census, 2010 Census Demographic Profile Data.

North Carolina child care desert facts

- 2,384,333 North Carolinians live in child care deserts, which is 24 percent of the population.
- About 1 million North Carolinians live in rural child care deserts, which is one-third of the state's rural population.
- There are 160,988 children under the age of 5 in North Carolina's child care deserts.
- About 40 percent of the young children in North Carolina child care deserts live in rural areas.
- North Carolina has 4,234 child care centers—more than all other states in the study.
- Less than 20 percent of non-Hispanic black North Carolinians live in child care deserts, while 26 percent of white and Hispanic North Carolinians live in child care deserts.
- North Carolina had 23,312 federally funded Head Start slots in 2014, which is 7 percent of the 320,000 total child care center slots in the state.
- On average, there are 5.2 child care centers per ZIP code in North Carolina. The median ZIP code has two child care centers.
- More than half of all North Carolinians live in suburban ZIP codes, of which only 28 percent are child care deserts.
- All licensed child care centers in North Carolina are included in the state's QRIS.
- Nearly half of all child care centers received a high-quality rating under North Carolina's QRIS.
- In 2015, full-time infant care at a North Carolina child care center averaged \$9,254 per year—12 percent of the state median income for a married couple with children.⁵⁹
- In 2015, preschool for a 4-year-old in North Carolina averaged \$7,920 per year— 10 percent of the state median income for a married couple with children.⁶⁰

Ohio		

Ohio child care deserts are a disproportionately rural phenomenon. While the majority of the state population resides in suburban communities, more than one-quarter of Ohioans live in rural ZIP codes. These communities are more likely to be child care deserts than not, with nearly 7 in 10 rural Ohio children living in child care deserts. In total, more than 100,000 rural Ohioans under age 5 live in the state's rural child care deserts, making it the largest rural child care desert population of all eight states.



TABLE 11 A typical Ohio ZIP code

	Median		Weighted average
Population	3,998	Poverty rate	15.3%
Population under age 5	224	Non-Hispanic white	80.5%
Population density	204.1 per mi ²	Non-Hispanic black	12.0%
Number of households	1,460	Hispanic	3.3%
Household density	74.5 per mi ²	Asian or Pacific Islander	1.8%
Land area	23.3 mi ²	Two or more races	2.1%
		Native American	0.1%

Note: Data on populated ZIP codes only. Proportional statistics are reported as weighted averages and are weighted by total population. Sources: Authors' calculations based on the Bureau of the Census, "American Community Survey, 2014 ACS 5-year estimates"; Bureau of the Census, 2010 Census Demographic Profile Data.

Ohio child care desert facts

- 3,124,374 Ohioans live in child care deserts, which is 27 percent of the population.
- More than 65 percent of Ohio's rural ZIP codes are child care deserts, while less than 25 percent of its urban and suburban ZIP codes combined are child care deserts.
- More than two-thirds of Ohio's children under the age of 5 in rural areas live in a child care desert.
- There are 200,663 children under the age of 5 in Ohio's child care deserts, with more than half of them living in rural areas.
- About 1 in 4 Ohioans lives in a rural ZIP code, two-thirds of which are child care deserts.
- Ohio has the second-highest proportion of non-Hispanic white residents of the eight states in the study.
- Ohio has the lowest proportion of Hispanic residents of all eight states in the study.
- Only 12 percent of non-Hispanic black Ohioans live in child care deserts, while more than 25 percent of white and Hispanic Ohioans live in child care deserts.
- Ohio had 37,052 federally funded Head Start slots in 2014, second most of the eight states studied.
- On average, there are 3.5 child care centers per ZIP code in Ohio. The median ZIP code has one child care center.
- Less than 8 percent of Ohio's 4,187 child care centers received a high-quality rating under Ohio's QRIS.
- In 2015, full-time infant care at an Ohio child care center averaged \$11,257 per year—13 percent of the state median income for a married couple with children.⁶¹
- In 2015, preschool for a 4-year-old in Ohio averaged \$9,185 per year—10 percent of the state median income for a married couple with children.⁶²

Virginia

With nearly 3.3 million people living in child care deserts, Virginia has one of the highest child care desert populations in the study. When compared with neighboring North Carolina, which has a larger population, Virginia has roughly 1 million more residents in child care deserts. While the majority of the state's population is suburban, most ZIP codes in the state are rural, and they include the homes of more than 2 million Virginians. Just as in many other states, these communities have the highest likelihood of being child care deserts. As a result, two-thirds of Virginia's children under the age of 5 in rural areas reside in a child care desert.



Sources: Authors calculations based on July 2015 administrative data from the Virginia Department of Social services; 21P code tabulation area data from the Bureau of the Census, "American Community Survey, 2014 ACS 5-year estimates." See Appendix B for full data sources.

TABLE 12 A typical Virginia ZIP code

	Median		Weighted average
Population	2925	Poverty rate	10.9%
Population under age 5	145	Non-Hispanic white	63.9%
Population density	83.4 per mi ²	Non-Hispanic black	18.9%
Number of households	1088	Hispanic	8.4%
Household density	30.1 per mi ²	Asian or Pacific Islander	5.8%
Land area	30.0 mi ²	Two or more races	2.6%
		Native American	0.2%

Note: Data on populated ZIP codes only. Proportional statistics are reported as weighted averages and are weighted by total population. Sources: Authors' calculations based on the Bureau of the Census, "American Community Survey, 2014 ACS 5-year estimates"; Bureau of the Census, 2010 Census Demographic Profile Data.

Virginia child care desert facts

- 3,289,982 Virginians live in child care deserts, which is 40 percent of the population.
- About two-thirds of Virginia's rural ZIP codes qualify as child care deserts.
- There are 217,389 children under the age of 5 in Virginia's child care deserts.
- Nearly two-thirds of Virginia's children in rural areas live in child care deserts.
- About 60 percent of Virginians live in suburban ZIP codes, of which more than one-third are child care deserts.
- About 40 percent of non-Hispanic white and black Virginians live in child care deserts, while about 46 percent of Hispanic Virginians live in child care deserts.
- Virginia only had 14,181 federally funded Head Start slots in 2014, among the fewest of the eight states studied.
- On average, there are 2.4 child care centers per ZIP code in Virginia. The median ZIP code has zero child care centers.
- Virginia only has 2,151 child care centers, roughly half the number of centers in neighboring North Carolina.
- Less than 15 percent of Virginia child care centers participated in Virginia's QRIS.
- Less than 5 percent of Virginia child care centers received a high-quality rating under Virginia's QRIS.
- In 2015, full-time infant care at a Virginia child care center averaged \$15,340 per year—15 percent of the state median income for a married couple with children.⁶³
- In 2015, preschool for a 4-year-old in Virginia averaged \$12,376 per year—12 percent of the state median income for a married couple with children.^{64*}

Appendix B: Data and methodology

Methodology

The authors merged state administrative data on the locations and capacities of licensed child care centers and, when available, ratings from state quality rating and improvement systems with data from the U.S. Census Bureau's American Community Survey, or ACS, 2010-2014 5-Year Estimates, downloaded using American FactFinder.⁶⁵ The multiyear ACS data offer the advantage of increased statistical reliability for less populated areas and small population subgroups, and it is the only source for poverty rates at the ZIP code level.

Since ZIP codes are a geographic boundary designed for the efficient delivery of mail, they are an imperfect unit for statistical analysis. However, recognizing that they are a universally applied and readily available indicator of location, the U.S. Census Bureau has provided survey estimates at the ZIP code level since 2000. They do this by aggregating data from the census block level to create a ZIP code tabulation area, or ZCTA, which is a very close geographic approximation of the U.S. Postal Service's ZIP code. The authors used a ZIP code-ZCTA crosswalk file to match the state child care center data to their corresponding ZCTAs for alignment with census estimates.⁶⁶

For this research, which is not interested in the precise location of individual child care centers, the terms ZIP code and ZCTA are basically interchangeable. For the sake of readability, the authors use ZIP code throughout this report. Some ZIP codes, namely P.O. boxes and ZIP codes that are unique to a single building or campus, do not have a corresponding ZCTA. Some child care centers reported these non-ZCTA ZIP codes to their state licensing agencies, usually because they used a P.O. Box to receive mail. In these rare cases, the center was recoded to use the surrounding ZCTA in order to match it to census survey data.

Because ZIP codes are designed around the efficiency of mail delivery, urban ZIP codes are much larger, in terms of population, than suburban or rural ZIP codes.

Densely populated urban areas with large apartment buildings are substantially easier to deliver mail to, meaning that urban post offices can service larger populations. Rural ZIP codes, by contrast, tend to be much larger in terms of land area.

The first step in analyzing the characteristics of child care deserts is deciding which ZIP codes are eligible to be considered child care deserts. In order to exclude from consideration areas with very small child populations, while still including most rural communities, the working definition institutes a minimum threshold of 30 children under the age of 5. Using this threshold, 25 percent of rural ZIP codes were excluded from consideration as child care deserts.

Similarly, in order to include for consideration areas with large populations but few child care centers, the definition uses a ratio of young children to child care capacity. Understanding that not all families will choose child care centers for their children, the authors set the desert threshold at a 3-1 ratio. This means that in child care deserts, if merely half of families chose to use center-based care, there would still not be enough cumulative spaces in all of the centers of that ZIP code. Using this threshold, all urban and suburban ZIP codes were included for consideration as child care deserts.

One of the goals of this research is to identify whether rural, suburban, or urban areas have different child care supply levels. Since, to a certain extent, these categories are a subjective evaluation, this question posed a formidable challenge. Inspired by research published by economist Jed Kolko, this study uses house-hold density—that is, the number of occupied households per square mile—to categorize each ZIP code as rural, suburban, or urban.⁶⁷ As the chief economist at a real estate search website, Kolko and his team conducted a national survey to develop a predictive model of the local characteristics associated with whether people say they live in an urban, suburban, or rural area. The research concluded that the strongest predictor of how people describe their ZIP codes' urbanicity is the number of occupied housing units per square mile.⁶⁸

Using the household density variable, each ZIP code was categorized as being rural, suburban, or urban. The results were analyzed visually by mapping the resulting dataset in ArcGIS for Desktop. This visual analysis confirmed that the urbanicity variable appropriately represented the rural, suburban, and urban characteristics of these eight states. Some cities, such as Chicago, are primarily urban, as they are densely populated. Other cities, such as Atlanta, are mostly coded as suburban

ZIP codes, as they are more spread out and less densely populated. This matches Kolko's research findings and reflects the general conception of Atlanta as one of the most sprawling American cities. One resulting strength of this analysis is that it treats the sprawling suburbs of Atlanta as having a fundamentally different residential character from the high-rise neighborhoods of Chicago.

This study also considers the state quality ratings for center-based programs. While each state has a quality rating and improvement system to assess the quality of early childhood programs, each system was in varying stages of development at the time the data was obtained. Some states had mature programs that included all child care and early education programs in the state, while others' programs were recently implemented. Though the administrative data used for this study is recent—most commonly, 2014 state licensing data—some states have made updates or overhauls to their QRIS since that time. For this reason, the analysis of quality ratings and the prevalence of high-quality centers should be interpreted as a cross-section view of 2014 through 2015.

While a program's quality rating is not a definitive measure of the quality of a child's experience in a program, these ratings have important policy implications. States are increasingly tying tiered reimbursement rates to programs' QRIS rating, such that programs with higher-quality ratings are eligible for higher reimbursements through the child care subsidy system. In many instances, programs can receive quality improvement supports—such as financial awards or bonuses, as well as technical assistance—by participating in the QRIS. A QRIS rating is certainly not the only marker of a quality program, but it is increasingly a meaningful distinction in the state's early learning system and an important measurement.

Because some states' data did not have capacity data for every child care center, the authors used a data imputation method to fill in missing data. This was done using the "mi set" command in Stata 14, which used a multiple regression over 20 runs to introduce stochastic error. In total, about 11 percent of the 22,928 centers were missing capacity data. The imputation regression used the following covariates to predict the capacity when values were missing: number of centers in ZIP code, state, population of ZIP code, population under the age of 5 in ZIP code, poverty rate in ZIP code, household density, and size of ZIP code in square miles.

The authors analyzed the presence and capacity of child care centers at the zip code level and, where available, their QRIS ratings. ZIP codes are the smallest level of geography for which the census releases public data on population,

poverty, and other neighborhood characteristics. Although ZIP codes are a crude measure of neighborhoods—and many children attend child care located outside of their residential ZIP codes—research shows that many families reveal a preference to use care that is closer to home.⁶⁹

Using this merged dataset, the authors produced state fact sheets and a cross-state report summarizing the findings across all eight states. Descriptive frequencies and medians are presented, and significant differences across ZIP codes with different poverty levels or racial demographic compositions were assessed using linear probability models for binary outcomes and linear regression for continuous outcomes. For all statements of statistical significance, a significance level of p < 0.05 was used, unless otherwise noted.

Data sources

Child care center administrative data

Child care center information was obtained from the following state agencies and organizations during the specified months: Colorado Department of Human Services, data received in March 2016; Georgia Department of Early Care and Learning, data received in March 2015; Illinois Network of Child Care Resource and Referral Agencies, data received in February 2016; Maryland State Department of Education, data received in July 2015; Maryland Family Network, data received in April 2016; Child Care Aware of Minnesota, data received in July 2015; North Carolina Department of Health and Human Services, data received in July 2015 ; Ohio Department of Job and Family Services, data received in September 2015; and the Virginia Department of Social Services, data received in July 2015. Center location was available for all centers listed in each of the states' licensed databases. QRIS participation, ratings, and center capacity were available for select centers within select states. (see Table 5)

TABLE 13 Child care location, QRIS rating, and capacity data availability, by state

State	Location data	QRIS rating	Capacity data
Colorado	2,036 centers	2,036 centers	2,036 centers
Georgia	4,050 centers	306 centers	3,166 centers
Illinois	2,794 centers	747 centers	2,791 centers
Maryland	2,223 centers	975 centers	907 centers
Minnesota	1,253 centers	269 centers	1,182 centers
North Carolina	4,234 centers	4,234 centers	4,234 centers
Ohio	4,187 centers	1,261 centers	3,861 centers
Virginia	2,151 centers	307 centers	2,148 centers

Number of child care centers for which the relevant information was provided

Sources: Data from the Colorado Department of Human Services; Georgia Department of Early Care and Learning; Illinois Network of Child Care Resource and Referral Agencies; Maryland State Department of Education; Maryland Family Network; Child Care Aware of Minnesota; Ohio Department of Job and Family Services; North Carolina Department of Health and Human Services; and Virginia Department of Social Services.

Census Bureau American Community Survey 2010-2014 5-Year Estimates

ZIP code tabulation area ACS estimates used in the analyses included: total population; population under 5 years old; the share of residents below the federal poverty line in the previous year; the number of non-Hispanic white residents; the number of non-Hispanic American Indian and Alaska Native residents; the number of non-Hispanic Asian residents; the number of non-Hispanic residents of any other race; the number of non-Hispanic residents of any race; the rate of labor force participation for all women aged 20 to 64; the rate of labor force participation for all with their own child under the age of 6 in the household. ACS poverty and racial/ethnic data were available for 6,836 ZIP codes of the 6,895 ZIP codes included in the analyses. The specific ACS files and variables used are listed below.⁷⁰

TABLE 14 Files and variables used from the American Community Survey, 2010–2014, five-year estimates

File or variable name	Variable label			
From ACS_14_5YR_B17020 file				
HD01_VD01	"Estimate; Total"			
HD01_VD02	"Estimate; Income in the past 12 months below poverty level"			
From ACS_14_5YR_B03002 file				
HD01_VD01	"Estimate; Total"			
HD01_VD03	"Estimate; Total: - Not Hispanic or Latino – White alone"			
HD01_VD04	"Estimate; Total: - Not Hispanic or Latino – Black or African American alone"			
HD01_VD05	"Estimate; Total: - Not Hispanic or Latino – American Indian and Alaskan Native alone"			
HD01_VD06	"Estimate; Total: - Not Hispanic or Latino – Asian alone"			
HD01_VD07	"Estimate; Total: - Not Hispanic or Latino – Native Hawaiian and Other Pacific Islander alone"			
HD01_VD08	"Estimate; Total: - Not Hispanic or Latino – Other race alone"			
HD01_VD09	"Estimate; Total: - Not Hispanic or Latino – Two or more races"			
HD01_VD12	"Estimate; Total: - Hispanic or Latino"			
From ACS_14_5YR_DP05 file				
HC01_VC08	"Estimate; SEX AND AGE - Under 5 years"			
From ACS_14_5YR_S2301 file				
HC02_VC27	"In labor force; Estimate; Population 20 to 64 years - SEX – Female"			
HC02_VC28	"In labor force; Estimate; Population 20 to 64 years - SEX – Female - With own children under 6 years"			

Source: Bureau of the Census, "American Community Survey, 2014 ACS 5-year estimates," available at http://factfinder.census.gov/faces/nav/ jsf/pages/index.xhtml (last accessed October 2016).

Limitations

The limitations of this study are primarily related to the availability and reliability of the data collected for analysis. While the regulatory and licensing data provided by the nine state agencies is more comprehensive than any publicly available data, it cannot be considered complete or totally accurate. There is likely some delay in the updating of state licensure, leading to some closed centers being included and some newly opened centers being excluded from the analysis. There is also the possibility of variation in state licensure administration and law, so that some states may not include all centers. This study only considers center-based child care and early education programs, which does not capture the full range of child care arrangements available to families. Home-based programs—such as family-based child care and family, friend, and neighbor care—can provide critical options for many families and are preferred by some parents. However, most 4-year-olds participate in center-based child care.⁷¹ Ultimately, most families will want or need center-based programs at some point during their child's early years, and they deserve a full range of options. Additionally, data on family-based care is unlikely to be shared by state licensing agencies due to privacy concerns. While having the locations of these home-based programs in the dataset would make the picture of child care supply more complete, it is simply not possible at this time.

Another limitation of this analysis is the strict assumption that child care centers should be near a family's home. Of course, some families may commute to work and need to have child care near their workplaces. An ideal analysis would be able to address this issue, but in reality, this could not be modeled without comprehensive individual-level data.

* **Correction, October 27, 2016:** This report has been corrected to accurately reflect the percentage of the Georgia population that lives in child care deserts, as well as to clarify that \$12,376 per year was the cost of preschool for a 4-year-old in Virginia in 2015.

About the authors

Rasheed Malik is a Policy Analyst with the Early Childhood Policy team at the Center for American Progress, where he focuses on child care infrastructure and financing, as well as disparate impacts of early childhood policy. Previously, he completed a graduate fellowship with the Poverty to Prosperity program at the Center. Malik received his master of public policy from the Gerald R. Ford School of Public Policy at the University of Michigan. Prior to graduate school, Malik was a government affairs and communications associate for the Waterfront Alliance, an organization with the goal of making the New York Harbor a shared, resilient, and accessible resource for all New Yorkers.

Katie Hamm is the Senior Director of Early Childhood Policy at the Center. Prior to joining the Center, Hamm worked as a program examiner at the Office of Management and Budget on federal child care and early education programs, including the Race to the Top-Early Learning Challenge, the Child Care and Development Fund, and the Head Start program. Her work focused on developing budget proposals to strengthen the quality of and access to early childhood programs. She also worked on international issues in early childhood while on detail to the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. Earlier in her career, Hamm worked at the Center for Law and Social Policy and the Institute for Women's Policy Research on child care and early education issues.

Maryam Adamu is a former Research Associate with the Early Childhood Policy team at the Center. Previously, she was an Emerson National Hunger Fellow with the Poverty to Prosperity Program and the Progress 2050 team, where her work focused on economic and racial justice in light of the 50th anniversary of the Civil Rights Act. She is currently a student at the New York University School of Law.

Taryn Morrissey is an assistant professor in the department of public administration and policy at American University. Morrissey's work centers on examining and improving public policies for vulnerable children. Her research examines the impacts of early care and education, food assistance, and neighborhood poverty on children's development. Previously, she held staff positions on the U.S. Senate Health, Education, Labor and Pensions Committee for former Sens. Ted Kennedy (D-MA) and Tom Harkin (D-IA) and at the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

Acknowledgements

The authors wish to recognize Rebecca Ullrich and Rachel Herzfeldt-Kamprath for their helpful insights. In addition, the authors would like to thank Alex Rowell and Michael Madowitz for their review of the data and methodology used in this report.

.....

Endnotes

- Office of Community Services, "Healthy Food Financing Initiative," available at http://www.acf.hhs.gov/ocs/programs/community-economic-development/healthyfood-financing (last accessed October 2016).
- 2 State administrative data was obtained from the Colorado Department of Human Services, the Georgia Department of Early Care and Learning, the Illinois Network of Child Care Resource and Referral Agencies, the Maryland State Department of Education, the Maryland Family Network, Child Care Aware of Minnesota, the North Carolina Department of Health and Human Services, the Ohio Department of Job and Family Services, and the Virginia Department of Social Services.
- 3 Though Washington state provided data on the locations of child care centers, its data did not include the capacity of centers. Since the identification of child care deserts often relies on a ratio of children under age 5 to cumulative capacity in a given ZIP code, this meant that Washington could not be included in the analysis.
- 4 Authors' calculations based on state administrative data and ZIP code tabulation area data from Bureau of the Census, American Community Survey 2010-2014 5-Year Estimates (U.S. Department of Commerce, 2015).
- 5 Ibid.
- 6 Authors' calculations based on data from Child Care Aware of America, "Parents and the High Cost of Child Care: 2015 Report" (2015), available at http://usa. childcareaware.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/ Parents-and-the-High-Cost-of-Child-Care-2015-FINAL. pdf; 2014 U.S. median family income as measured by Kids Count Data Center, "Median Family Income Among Households with Children," available at http://datacenter.kidscount.org/data/tables/65-median-familyincomeamong-households-with-children?loc=1&loct =2#detailed/2/2-52/false/869,36,868,867,133/any/365 (last accessed October 2016).
- 7 Lynda Laughlin, Who's Minding the Kids? Child Care Arrangements: Spring 2011 (Bureau of the Census, 2013), available at https://www.census.gov/prod/2013pubs/ p70-135.pdf
- 8 Jean I. Layzer and Nancy Burstein, "National Study of Child Care for Low-Income Families: Patterns of Child Care Use Among Low-Income Families" (Bethesda, MD: Abt Associates, 2007), available at http://www.acf.hhs. gov/sites/default/files/opre/patterns_cc_execsum.pdf.
- 9 Francisca Dussaillant, "Usage of Child Care and Education Centers: The Proximity Factor," SAGE Open 6 (2) (2016): 1–13, available at http://sgo.sagepub.com/ content/spsgo/6/2/2158244016652668.full.pdf.
- 10 Authors' calculations based on state administrative data and ZIP code tabulation area data from the Bureau of the Census, American Community Survey 2010-2014 5-Year Estimates.
- 11 Ibid.
- 12 QRIS rating systems vary by state. High-quality ratings are defined as 4 or 5 stars in Colorado, Maryland, and Virginia; 3 stars in Georgia and Illinois; 4 stars in Minnesota; and 5 stars in North Carolina and Ohio.
- 13 Bureau of Labor Statistics, "Employment Characteristics of Families — 2015," Press release, April 22, 2016, available at http://www.bls.gov/news.release/pdf/famee.pdf.
- 14 Laughlin, "Who's Minding the Kids? Child Care Ar-

rangements."

- 15 Jack P. Shonkoff and Deborah A. Phillips, eds., From Neurons to Neighborhoods: The Science of Early Childhood Development (Washington: National Academy Press, 2000).
- 16 CAP analysis of data available from Administration for Children and Families, Prices Charged in Early Care and Education: Initial Findings from the National Survey of Early Care and Education (NSECE) (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2015), available at http:// www.acf.hhs.gov/sites/default/les/opre/es_price_ of_care_toopre_041715_2.pdf; Administration for Children and Families, National Survey of Early Care & Education Fact Sheet (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2014), available at http://www.acf. hhs.gov/sites/default/les/opre/charac- teristics_of_ cb_fact_sheet_nal_111014.pdf.
- 17 CAP analysis of David Murphey, Mae Cooper, and Nicole Forry, "The Youngest Americans: A Statistical Portrait of Infants and Toddlers in the United States" (Chicago and Washington: Robert R. McCormick Foundation and Child Trends, 2013), available at http:// www.childtrends.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/11/ MCCORMICK-FINAL.pdf; Office of Planning, Research and Evaluation, Characteristics of Center-based Early Care and Education Programs: National Survey of Early Care and Education (NSECE) (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2014), Exhibit 1, available at http://www.acf.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/opre/characteristics_of_cb_ece_programs_111014.pdf.
- 18 Jay Belsky and others, "Are There Long-Term Effects of Early Child Care?" Child Development 78 (2) (2007): 681-701; National Institute of Child Health and Human Development and Greg J. Duncan, "Modeling the Impacts of Child Care Quality on Children's Preschool Cognitive Development," Child Development 74 (5) (2003): 1454-75; National Institute of Child Health and Human Development Early Child Care Research Network, "Child-care effect sizes for the NICHD Study of Early Child Care and Youth Development," American Psychologist 61 (2) (2006): 99-116; Erik Ruzek and others, "The Quality of Toddler Child Care and Cognitive Skills at 24 Months: Propensity Score Analysis Results from the ECLS-B," Early Childhood Research Quarterly 29 (1) (2014): 12-21; Deborah Vandell and others, "Do Effects of Early Child Care Extend to Age 15 Years? Results from the NICHD Study of Early Child Care and Youth Development," Child Development 81 (3) (2010): 737-756; Hirokazu Yoshikawa and others, "Investing in Our Future: The Evidence Base on Preschool Education" (New York and Ann Arbor, MI: Foundation for Child Development and Society for Research in Child Development, 2013), available at http://fcd-us.org/sites/ default/files/Evidence%20Base%20on%20Preschool%20 Education%20FINAL.pdf.
- 19 William T. Gormley Jr. and others, "The Effects of Universal Pre-K on Cognitive Development," Developmental Psychology 41 (6) (2005): 872-884; William T. Gormley Jr. and Deborah Phillips, "Programs Can Boost School Readiness," Science 320 (5884) (2008): 1723-1724; James J. Heckman "Skill Formation and the Economics of Investing in Disadvantaged Children," Science 312 (5782) (2006): 1900-1902; Ruzek and others, "The Quality of Toddler Child Care and Cognitive Skills at 24 Months"; Yoshikawa and others, "Investing in Our Future"; Allison Friedman-Krauss, W. Steven Barnett, and Milagros Nores, "How Much Can High-Quality Universal Pre-K Reduce Achievement Gaps?" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2016), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/ education/report/2016/04/05/132750/how-much-canhigh-quality-universal-pre-k-reduce-achievement-gaps/.

- 20 Kids Count Data Center, "Kids Count National Indicators," available at http://datacenter.kidscount.org/ data#USA/1/0/char/0 (last accessed June 2016).
- 21 Child Care Aware of America, "Child Care in America: 2015 State Fact Sheets," available at http://cca.worksmartsuite.com/UserContentStart. aspx?category=28 (last accessed October 2016).

22 Ibid.

- 23 Harriet B. Presser, Working in a 24/7 Economy: Challenges for American Families (New York: Russell Sage Foundation, 2003); Office of Planning, Research and Evaluation, Households' Geographic Access to Center-based Early Care and Education: Estimates and Methodology from the National Survey of Early Care and Education (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2016), available at http://www.acf.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/opre/hh_ geoaccessto_cb_ece_toopre_042916_b508.pdf; Dussaillant, "Usage of Child Care and Education Centers"; Jean Layzer and Barbara Goodson, "Care in the Home: A Description of Family Child Care and the Experience of Families and Children That Use It" (Bethesda, MD: Abt Associates, 2006), available at http://www.acf.hhs.gov/ sites/default/files/opre/care_in_home.pdf.
- 24 Harriet B. Presser, Working in a 24/7 Economy; Jody Heymann, The Widening Gap: Why America's Working Families Are in Jeopardy and What Can Be Done about It (New York: Basic Books, 2000).
- 25 Office of Planning, Research and Evaluation, Households' Geographic Access to Center-based Early Care and Education.
- 26 Dussaillant, "Usage of Child Care and Education Centers."
- 27 Janice Compton and Robert A. Pollak, "Family proximity, childcare, and women's labor force attachment," *Journal of Urban Economics* 79 (2014): 72–90.
- 28 Ruzek and others, "The Quality of Toddler Child Care and Cognitive Skills at 24 Months."
- 29 Rachel A. Gordon and P. Lindsay Chase-Lansdale, "Availability of child care in the United States: An analysis of data sources," *Demography* 38 (2) (2001): 299–316; Office of Planning, Research and Evaluation, *Households' Geographic Access to Center-based Early Care and Education*; Ruzek and others, "The Quality of Toddler Child Care and Cognitive Skills at 24 Months."
- 30 Ibid; Laughlin, "Who's Minding the Kids? Child Care Arrangements."
- 31 Chantelle J. Dowsett, Aletha C. Huston, and Amy E. Imes, "Structural and Process Features in Three Types of Child Care for Children from High and Low Income Families," Early Childhood Research Quarterly 23 (1) (2008): 69–93; NICHD Early Child Care Research Network, "Type of Child Care and Children's Development at 54 Months," Early Childhood Research Quarterly 19 (2) (2004): 203–230; Dowsett, Huston, and Imes, "Structural and Process Features in Three Types of Child Care for Children from High and Low Income Families"; Taryn W. Morrissey, "Sequence of Child Care Type and Child Development: What Role Does Peer Exposure Play?", Early Childhood Research Quarterly 25 (1) (2010): 33–50; NICHD Early Child Care Research Network, "Type of Child Care and Children's Development at 54 Months."
- 32 Though Washington state provided data on the locations of child care centers, its data did not include the capacity of centers. Since the identification of child care deserts often relies on a ratio of children under the age of five to cumulative capacity in a given ZIP code, this meant that Washington could not be included in the analysis.

- 33 Authors' analysis of Bureau of the Census, American Community Survey 2010-2014 5-Year Estimates.
- 34 Authors' calculations based on state administrative data and ZIP code tabulation area data from Bureau of the Census, American Community Survey 2010-2014 5-Year Estimates.
- 35 Authors' calculations based on administrative data obtained from the Colorado Department of Human Services, the Georgia Department of Early Care and Learning, the Illinois Network of Child Care Resource and Referral Agencies, the Maryland State Department of Education, the Maryland Family Network, Child Care Aware of Minnesota, the North Carolina Department of Health and Human Services, the Ohio Department of Job and Family Services, and the Virginia Department of Social Services.
- 36 Authors' calculations based on state administrative data and ZIP code tabulation area data from Bureau of the Census, American Community Survey 2010-2014 5-Year Estimates. QRIS rating systems vary by state. Highquality ratings are defined as 4 or 5 stars in Colorado, Maryland, and Virginia; 3 stars in Georgia and Illinois; 4 stars in Minnesota; and 5 stars in North Carolina and Ohio.
- 37 Ibid.
- 38 Ibid.
- 39 Carmen DeNavas-Walt and Bernadette D. Proctor, Income and Poverty in the United States: 2014 (U.S. Department of Commerce, 2015), available at http://www. census.gov/library/publications/2015/demo/p60-252. html.
- 40 Lindsay Daugherty, "Child Care Choices of Hispanic Families: Why Aren't Families Using Center Care?" (Santa Monica, CA: RAND Corporation, 2010), available at http:// www.rand.org/pubs/rgs_dissertations/RGSD258.html.
- 41 Child Care Aware of America, "Parents and the High Cost of Child Care: 2015 Report."
- 42 Katie Hamm and Carmel Martin, "A New Vision for Child Care in the United States: A Proposed New Tax Credit to Expand Access to High-Quality Child Care" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2015), available at https://cdn.americanprogress.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/08/31111043/Hamm-Childcare-report.pdf.
- 43 Ibid.
- 44 The ZIP codes with the following city names were considered part of the Denver metropolitan area: Denver, Aurora, Arvada, Centennial, Thornton, Westminster, Littleton, and Commerce City.

45 Ibid.

46 Authors' calculations based on data from Bureau of the Census, American Community Survey 2015 1-Year Estimates (U.S. Department of Commerce, 2016), table B19126; Child Care Aware of America, "Child Care in America: 2016 State Fact Sheets," available at http://usa. childcareaware.org/advocacy-public-policy/resources/ reports-and-research/statefactsheets/ (last accessed September 2016).

47 Ibid.

48 Authors' calculations based on state administrative data and ZIP code tabulation area data from Bureau of the Census, American Community Survey 2010-2014 5-Year Estimates; 47.5 percent of the 824,858 rural Georgians living in child care deserts are in areas with a poverty rate higher than 20 percent.

- 49 High poverty ZIP codes have a local poverty rate of more than 20 percent.
- 50 Authors' calculations based on data from Bureau of the Census, American Community Survey 2015 1-Year Estimates; Child Care Aware of America, "Child Care in America: 2016 State Fact Sheets."
- 51 Ibid.
- 52 Ibid.
- 53 Ibid.
- 54 Ibid.
- 55 Ibid.
- 56 Many Minneapolis-St. Paul ZIP codes are categorized as suburban since this variable is based on household density rather than whether a ZIP code is within a city limit. This explains why two-thirds of Minneapolis-St. Paul ZIP codes are deserts, while only half of all urban ZIP codes in the state are deserts.
- 57 Authors' calculations based on data from Bureau of the Census, American Community Survey 2015 1-Year Estimates; Child Care Aware of America, "Child Care in America: 2016 State Fact Sheets."
- 58 Ibid.
- 59 Ibid.
- 60 Ibid.
- 61 Ibid.
- 62 Ibid.
- 63 Ibid.
- 64 Ibid.

- 65 Unfortunately, without data on family child care and other types of home-based child care, the report lacks a full picture of the supply of child care in these states. However, research shows that the use of center care is increasing, even among infants and toddlers, and much home-based child care takes the form of informal arrangements with relatives or family friends, making data on the supply of home-based care difficult to obtain. See Kimberly Burgess and others, Trends in The Use of Early Care and Education, 1995-2011: Descriptive Analysis of Child Care Arrangements from National Survey Data (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2014), available at https://aspe.hhs.gov/report/trendsuse-early-care-and-education-1995-2011-descriptiveanalysis-child-care-arrangements-national-survey-data; Rachel A. Gordon and P. Lindsay Chase-Lansdale, "Availability of Child Care in The United States: A Description and Analysis of Data Sources," Demography 38 (2) (2001): 299-316; Bureau of the Census, "American FactFinder," available at http://factfinder.census.gov/faces/nav/jsf/ pages/index.xhtml (last accessed June 2016).
- 66 For more information on ZCTAs, see Bureau of the Census, "ZIP Code" Tabulation Areas (ZCTAs")," available at https://www.census.gov/geo/reference/zctas.html (last accessed October 2016).
- 67 Jed Kolko," How Suburban Are Big American Cities?", FiveThirtyEight, May 21, 2015, available at http:// fivethirtyeight.com/features/how-suburban-are-bigamerican-cities/.
- 68 Jed Kolko, "Supplemental materials for How Suburban Are Big American Cities?" jedkolko.com, May 27, 2015, available at http://jedkolko.com/wp-content/ uploads/2015/05/Data-and-methodological-details-052715.pdf.
- 69 Dussaillant, "Usage of Child Care and Education Centers."
- 70 For technical documentation, see Bureau of the Census, "Code Lists, Definitions, and Accuracy," available at https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/acs/ technical-documentation/code-lists.html (last accessed October 2016).
- 71 Laughlin, "Who's Minding the Kids? Child Care Arrangements."

Our Mission

The Center for American Progress is an independent, nonpartisan policy institute that is dedicated to improving the lives of all Americans, through bold, progressive ideas, as well as strong leadership and concerted action. Our aim is not just to change the conversation, but to change the country.

Our Values

As progressives, we believe America should be a land of boundless opportunity, where people can climb the ladder of economic mobility. We believe we owe it to future generations to protect the planet and promote peace and shared global prosperity.

And we believe an effective government can earn the trust of the American people, champion the common good over narrow self-interest, and harness the strength of our diversity.

Our Approach

We develop new policy ideas, challenge the media to cover the issues that truly matter, and shape the national debate. With policy teams in major issue areas, American Progress can think creatively at the cross-section of traditional boundaries to develop ideas for policymakers that lead to real change. By employing an extensive communications and outreach effort that we adapt to a rapidly changing media landscape, we move our ideas aggressively in the national policy debate.

